
City Council Regular Meeting Monday, April 8, 2013 
 1 

     
 CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

Mayor Zavier M. Garcia 
Vice Mayor Michael Windrem Councilman Billy Bain 
Councilman George V. Lob                                Councilman Jaime A. Petralanda 
 
Decorum: “Any person making impertinent or slanderous remarks or who becomes boisterous 
while addressing the City Council, shall be barred from further audience before the City 
Council by the Mayor, unless permission to continue or again address the City Council is 
granted by the majority vote of the City Council members present.  In accordance with the 
foregoing, the City Council has determined that racial or ethnic slurs, personal attacks and 
comments unrelated to City matters or issues constitute prohibited comments from the 
podium”. 

 
AGENDA 

 REGULAR MEETING 
 Monday, April 8, 2013 – 7:00 p.m. 

Council Chambers – City Hall 
201 Westward Drive – Miami Springs 

 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 
 
2. Invocation: Mayor Garcia 
 

Salute to the Flag: Students from All Angels’ Academy will lead the audience in the 
Pledge of Allegiance and Salute to the Flag 

 
3. Awards & Presentations:  

 
A) Certificate of Recognition – Harvest Moon Bistro 
 
B) Yard of the Month Award for April 2013 – 1291 Redbird Avenue – Victor and 

Zoraida Gutierrez 
 
C) Presentation by Richard Singer of NGF Consulting, Inc. Regarding the 

Operation of the Golf and Country Club 
 
4. Open Forum: Persons wishing to speak on items of general city business, please sign 

the register located on the speaker's stand before the meeting begins 
 
 
 
 



City Council Regular Meeting Monday, April 8, 2013 
 2 

5. Approval of Council Minutes: 
 

A) 03-25-2013 – Regular Meeting 
 
6. Reports from Boards & Commissions:  
 

A) 03-19-2013 – Education Advisory Board – Minutes 
 

B) 03-21-2013 – Historic Preservation Board – Minutes 
 

C) 03-26-2013 – Ecology Board – Cancellation Notice 
 

D) 03-28-2013 – Code Review Board – Cancellation Notice 
 

E) 04-01-2013 – Zoning and Planning Board – Cancellation Notice 
 

F) 04-01-2013 – Board of Adjustment – Cancellation Notice 
 

G) 04-01-2013 – Memorial Committee – Minutes 
 

H) 04-02-2013 – Code Enforcement Board – Cancellation Notice 
 

7. Public Hearings: None 
 

8. Consent Agenda:  
 

A) Approval of the City Attorney’s Invoice for March 2013 in the Amount of 
$11,913.75 

 
9. Old Business:  
 

A) Appointments to Advisory Boards by the Mayor and Council Members 
 

B) Update for Energy Consulting Services 
 
C) Wall of Fame in the Community Center 

 
D) Strategic Plan Update 

 
E) Pool Renovation/Repairs Update 

 
F) Code Compliance Presentation 

 
G) Paperless Agenda Implementation 

 
H) Capital Expenditures Over the Next 5-10 Years 

 
I) Affordable Care Act and its Effects on the City’s Budget 

 
 
 



City Council Regular Meeting Monday, April 8, 2013 
 3 

10. New Business:  
 
A) Recommendation that Council Approves the Facility Agreement with Miami-Dade 

County Aquatic Club, Inc. (MDCAC) for a 1-year Period Beginning on May 1, 
2013 and Ending on April 30, 2014 

 
B) Recommendation from the Education Advisory Board Regarding Asking the City 

Council to Authorize Representation to the Board from Public Works, Police and 
the Chamber of Commerce in Order to Achieve the Collaboration Between the 
City and Miami-Dade County Public Schools 

 
11. Other Business:  
 
 A) Scheduling of Executive Session for Thursday, April 25, 2013 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
12. Reports & Recommendations: 
 

A) City Attorney 
B) City Manager 
C) City Council 

 
13. Adjourn 
 
 
******************************************************************************************************* 
If any person decides to appeal any decision of this Board with respect to any matter considered, s/he will need a record of 
the proceedings and for such purpose may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record 
includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is made (F. S. 286.0105), all of which the City does not 
provide. 
******************************************************************************************************* 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing a special accommodation to participate in this 
proceeding should contact the City Clerk, 201 Westward Drive, Miami Springs, Florida 33166.  Telephone: (305) 805-5006, 
no later than (7) days prior to the proceeding. 
******************************************************************************************************* 
Pursuant to Sec. 2-11.1 (S) of the Miami-Dade County Code and Miami Springs Code of Ordinances Chapter 33 - §33-20, 
all persons, firms or corporations employed or retained by a principal who seeks to encourage the passage, defeat, or 
modifications of (1) ordinance, resolution, action or decision of the City Council; (2) any action, decision, recommendation of 
any City Board or Committee; or (3) any action, decision or recommendation of City personnel during the time period of the 
entire decision-making process on such action, decision or recommendation which will be heard or reviewed by the City 
Council, or a City Board or Committee shall register with the City before engaging in any lobbying activities on forms 
prepared for this purpose and shall state under oath his or her name, business address, the name and business address of 
each person or entity which has employed said registrant to lobby, and the specific issue on which he or she has been 
employed to lobby.  A copy of the lobbyist registration form is available from the Office of the City Clerk. 
******************************************************************************************************* 
 















































































































































 
DRAFT 

 City of Miami Springs, Florida 
 
 
The Miami Springs City Council held a REGULAR MEETING in the Council Chambers at City 
Hall on Monday, March 25, 2013, at 7:00 p.m. 
 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:02 p.m.   
 
The following were present:  Mayor Zavier M. Garcia 

Vice Mayor Jennifer Ator (arrived at 7:03 p.m.) 
Councilwoman Grace Bain 
Councilman Bob Best 
Councilman George Lob 

 
Also Present:    City Manager Ronald K. Gorland 
     Assistant City Manager/Finance Director William Alonso 
     City Attorney Jan K. Seiden  

Police Captain Jon Kahn 
     Interim Golf Course Director Sandy Pell 

City Clerk Magalí Valls 
Clerical Assistant Elora R. Sakal 

 
 
2. Invocation: Councilman Best offered the invocation. 

 
Salute to the Flag: The audience participated. 

 
3. Awards & Presentations:  

 
3A) Certificate of Recognition – Harvest Moon Bistro 
 
Terry Margolis from Harvest Moon Bistro was not present. 
 
 
3B) Certificate of Recognition – Gabriel Rios 
 
Mayor Garcia informed Council that he toured all the schools in the City with School Board 
Member Susie Castillo and he came in contact with students, teachers and administrators.  
There are many great new programs, three of the schools are graded “A”, and this is because 
of the hard work and dedication of the administrators, teachers and the students. 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 1 



Mayor Garcia explained that Miami Springs Senior High School students Gabriel Rios and 
Kevin Paz are two gentlemen who stood out to him in particular.  They are involved in a 
program for developing application programs for cellular phones. He congratulated Mr. Rios for 
developing the first iOS Apple application and Mr. Paz for developing the first Android 
application.  The applications will be available online. 
 
The Mayor presented a Certificate of Recognition to Gabriel Rios for his many 
accomplishments, including the first iOS Apple Application for Elan Art and Poetry Journal, 
designing the school’s new Website, pioneering/developing the Miami-Dade County Youth 
Commission Web site, interning with the Miami Cultural Tours to develop internet presence, 
and designing for the Miami River Walk Festival. 
  
Mr. Rios thanked Mayor Garcia for the opportunity to receive the award. 
 
 
3C) Certificate of Recognition – Kevin Paz 
 
Mayor Garcia presented a Certificate of Recognition to Kevin Paz who developed the first 
Android Application for the Elan Art and Poetry Journal, contributed information technology 
support, designed blogs, implemented social networks for teachers, and interned with the 
Miami Cultural Tours to develop internet presence. 
 
Mr. Paz thanked Mayor Garcia and his parents for providing the opportunity for him to attend 
school and learn about information technology. 
 
 
4. Open Forum:  
   
Education Advisory Board 
 
Dr. Mara Zapata of 272 Cherokee Street, Vice Chair of the Education Advisory Board, stated 
that the minutes from the March 19th meeting were not yet available and she is requesting that 
Council pay close attention to them because an important motion was passed during the 
meeting. 
 
Dr. Zapata explained that the Education Advisory Board is a partnership with Miami-Dade 
County Public Schools. She took the opportunity to attend an education meeting for another 
municipality to see how they function and she found that they function differently, which was 
the reason for her motion.  She emphasized that the City’s schools are stronger than ever and 
she feels that the Education Advisory Board should also be stronger. 
 
 
5. Approval of Council Minutes: 
 
5A) 03-11-2013 – Regular Meeting 
 
Minutes of the March 11, 2013 Regular Meeting were approved as written on motion by 
Councilman Lob.  Councilwoman Bain seconded the motion which was carried 4-0 on roll 
call vote with Councilman Best abstaining since he was not present at that meeting. 
 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 2 



6. Reports from Boards & Commissions:  
 
6A) 03-06-2013 – Architectural Review Board – Minutes 
 
Minutes of the March 6, 2013 Architectural Review Board meeting were received for 
information.  
 
Councilwoman Bain said that she was disturbed at the way Vice Mayor Ator handled herself at 
the Architectural Review Board meeting of March 6th, and she feels that some of her 
discussion was inappropriate.  She asked City Attorney Seiden about the guidelines that 
Council is supposed to uphold when attending advisory board meetings and her understanding 
is that Council members are allowed to respond to questions, but they are not supposed to 
get personal or use their position to their own advantage. 
 
City Attorney Seiden responded that generally Board liaisons just participate by listening and 
bringing items back to the Council.  As a liaison, a Council member has the ability to address 
the boards should there be an issue between Council and the board. 
 
Councilwoman Bain asked the City Attorney if he felt that Vice Mayor Ator was out of line 
based on the discussion in the minutes as she feels that she used her power as a platform for 
her political campaign for Mayor. 
 
City Attorney Seiden replied that Vice Mayor Ator gave a brief summary of Council action that, 
in her opinion, impacted the Architectural Review Board’s powers. He advised that any Council 
member has the ability to respond in writing or otherwise if they feel that the comments that 
she made were inappropriate or if they have a different opinion.  He does not feel that Vice 
Mayor Ator represented the opinion of Council in the minutes and the only opinions she 
represented were hers.   
 
Councilman Best said that he found nothing in the minutes that was along the lines of what 
Councilwoman Bain described. He felt that Vice Mayor Ator’s discussion at the meeting was 
procedural and no campaign issues or any decisions that Council would make going forward 
were discussed, other than items that had already been addressed. He does not see her 
actions as a platform for her campaign at all. 
 
Councilman Lob explained that he tended to agree with Councilwoman Bain. If he were to run 
for Council again, he would not attend an Education Advisory Board meeting and mention that 
he is running for a certain seat, especially during a meeting that has nothing to do with the 
election. 
 
Mayor Garcia recalled previous discussions with the City Attorney when Mr. Seiden asked 
Council not to do exactly what he read in the Architectural Review Board minutes.  He 
explained that he was not going to make an issue of this, but this has happened before and 
the City Attorney instructed Council not to do it, but yet it has happened again. 
 
City Attorney Seiden clarified that any Council member who is a liaison to a board is present 
at the advisory board meetings only as a liaison to listen, answer questions and not become 
involved in the discussions unless it involves a specific question. 
 
 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 3 



Councilwoman Bain commented that the meeting minutes are public record for anyone who 
wants to read them.  The only statement that she is trying to make is that everybody should 
be accountable in the same way. 
 
Mayor Garcia referred to the Architectural Review Board minutes of March 6th and noted that 
only two paragraphs did not begin with Vice Mayor Ator’s comments and her participation in 
the discussion.  The City Attorney has made it very clear that the advisory board meetings 
should not be run by the Council liaison and he knows that what Vice Mayor Ator did was 
wrong. He said that Council was advised not to do this and it is exactly what she did. He 
apologized for not reading the minutes completely ahead of time, and he reiterated that it is 
clear in the minutes that every paragraph includes the discussion of the Vice Mayor. 
    
 
6B) 03-12-2013 – Recreation Commission – Minutes 
 
Minutes of the March 12, 2013 Recreation Commission meeting were received for information 
without comment.  
 
 
6C) 03-13-2013 – Golf and Country Club Advisory Board – Cancellation Notice  
 
Cancellation Notice of the March 13, 2013 Golf and Country Club Advisory Board meeting was 
received for information without comment.  
 
 
6D) 03-14-2013 – Board of Parks and Parkways – Cancellation Notice  
 
Cancellation Notice of the March 14, 2013 Board of Parks and Parkways meeting was 
received for information without comment.  
 
 
6E) 03-18-2013 – Revitalization and Redevelopment Ad-Hoc Committee – Cancellation 
Notice 
 
Cancellation Notice of the March 18, 2013 Revitalization and Redevelopment Ad-Hoc 
Committee meeting was received for information without comment.  
 
 
6F) 03-26-2013 – Ecology Board – Cancellation Notice 
 
Cancellation Notice of the March 26, 2013 Ecology Board meeting was received for 
information without comment.  
 
 
6G) 03-28-2013 – Code Review Board – Cancellation Notice  
 
Cancellation Notice of the March 28, 2013 Code Review Board meeting was received for 
information without comment. 
 
 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 4 



7. Public Hearings:  
 
7A) Second Reading – Ordinance No. 1052-2013 – An Ordinance of the City Council of 
the City of Miami Springs Amending Code of Ordinance Section 95-02, Parks and 
Recreation Facilities – Hours of Operation; By Including the City Gazebo and Adjacent 
Grassed Area Within the Hours of Operation Restrictions; Repealer; Effective Date (First 
Reading: 03-11-2013 – Advertised: 03-13-2013) 
   
City Attorney Jan K. Seiden read the ordinance by title. 
 
Attorney Seiden stated that this is the second reading of the ordinance and public hearing. 
There were no changes since the first reading.  The purpose of the ordinance is to create 
consistency in enforcement as noted in Section 95-02 that deals with the other recreation 
facilities and park areas in the City so that Code Enforcement and the Police Department have 
the ability to enforce closure at the appropriate times.   
 
Mayor Garcia opened the public hearing to those persons wishing to speak.   
 
Nery Owens of 332 Payne Drive said that when the Gazebo was built in 1974, it was seldom 
used and now it is a place where people gather, hold events and it is treated like a park. She 
feels that it is correct to allow enforcement by the Police Department in order to regulate the 
hours and its use, which is good for the safety of the children. She urged Council to adopt the 
ordinance.  
 
There were no additional speakers and the public hearing was closed.  
 
Councilman Best moved to adopt Ordinance No. 1052-2013 on second reading.  
Councilman Lob seconded the motion. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator said that her understanding is that there is a curfew and the City Attorney 
responded that there is no curfew; the hours of operation are set forth on the sign, although 
there is a county ordinance in regard to curfew that goes into effect during certain times.  
 
Vice Mayor Ator said that one resident mentioned that this ordinance basically targets youth in 
the community and there is no place for them to gather in the City.  If the intention is to 
target young people there are other measures that can be taken to work with them. 
 
City Manager Gorland emphasized that the intention is not to target young people. The 
quickest way to ruin a business district is to allow activity to get out of control when the kids 
gather there.  There were some problems that the Police Captain can speak on, including drug 
deals and damage to the Gazebo.  The Police felt that they were losing control and the best 
way to deal with the situation is to place a curfew.  In order to be enforceable, the regulations 
must be in ordinance form. 
 
Mayor Garcia clarified that the hours of operation extend until 10:00 p.m. 
 
Police Captain Jon Kahn explained that the Police Department was experiencing problems and 
they asked the City Administration to give them a tool in order to enforce the regulations. The 
prohibited hours are from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. and they will not run off kids that are not 
creating problems; there are some undesirable people who are causing problems and the 
ordinance allows the Police Department to send them on their way. 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 5 



 
 
To answer Vice Mayor Ator’s question, Captain Kahn assured her that it would not be a 
problem if she were to be at the Gazebo at 10:30 at night.  The ordinance is intended to 
control loitering and hanging out and it is not age specific. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator was told by a resident that the county curfew ordinance was 11:00 p.m. and 
it seemed that the ordinance is targeting the teenagers. 
 
Captain Kahn explained that people are coming from outside the city to hang out at the 
Gazebo and the Police Department needs an enforcement tool in order to ask them to leave. 
 
Councilwoman Bain was of the opinion that the ordinance is more of a safety issue and it 
does not target any age group.  The resident who spoke to Vice Mayor Ator should realize 
that it is a safety issue for the kids since there are drug deals and inappropriate activity going 
on, which the Police Department takes very seriously. 
 
City Attorney Seiden clarified that it is different than a curfew because the City owns a number 
of properties and the City Staff cannot possibly control all the properties without proper police 
protection.  The Gazebo is being included because there were several incidents and the Police 
requested an enforcement tool. 
 
Councilman Best asked if the City would be liable for a lawsuit if the police were to take 
action without the appropriate ordinance. 
 
City Attorney Seiden said that the difficult laws have always been the loitering laws because 
there is no real way to define them.  If there were 50 people hanging out in the Gazebo there 
would be no way to control them without the proper ordinance. 
 
To answer the Mayor’s question, the City Manager confirmed that there would be exceptions 
for scheduled events at the Gazebo. 
 
Councilman Lob clarified that according to the County ordinance, curfew hours are from 11p.m. 
to 6a.m., from Sunday nights to Friday mornings and between 12a.m. and 6a.m. from Friday 
nights to Sunday mornings. 
 
The motion was carried 4-1 with Vice Mayor Ator casting the dissenting vote. 
 
 
8. Consent Agenda: (approved with one motion) 
 
8A) Recommendation that Council Approve an Expenditure of $75,359.00 to H&R Paving 
Inc., Utilizing Miami Dade County RPQ 20120073, as Provided in Section 31.11 (E) (5) of 
the City Code 
   
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland read the title of the award. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator moved the item. Councilman Lob seconded the motion which was 
unanimously carried on roll call vote. 
 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 6 



 
 
8B) Recommendation that Council Approve a Change Order to Branching Out, Inc., in 
the Amount of $2,000.00, for One New ConVault 500 Gallon Split Compartment Fuel Tank, 
Pursuant to Section 31.11 (F) (11) (c) of the City Code 
 
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland read the title of the award. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator moved the item. Councilman Lob seconded the motion which was 
unanimously carried on roll call vote. 
 
 

(Agenda Item 10D was considered before 9A) 
 
9. Old Business:  
 
9A) Appointments to Advisory Boards by the Mayor and Council Members 
   
Vice Mayor Ator (Group IV) appointed Laura Pilgrim to the Ecology Board for a full term 
ending of April 30, 2016. 
 
Councilman Best commented that he has appointments pending to the Recreation Commission, 
the Ecology Board and the Ad-Hoc Committee and after thinking long and hard he decided 
that the successor to his seat should make that decision. 
 
 
9B) Pool Renovation/Repairs Discussion 
 
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland stated that at the previous Council meeting on February 25, 
2013, issues with the pool were discussed and three options were suggested. He advised that 
they were trying to locate an engineering firm that has a non-invasive method of determining 
the structural integrity of the pool. Subsequently, Professional Services Supervisor Tammy 
Romero and Recreation Director Omar Luna met with two additional firms with what they 
thought would be non-invasive methods and to date, they have met with a total of twelve 
different firms/individuals to discuss the project at length as shown in the back up 
documentation. 
 
Method one involves x-raying the pool walls and floor surface and method two is a ground 
penetrating radar (GPR), according to Mr. Gorland.  Under the GPR method, the pool will not 
have to be drained and it only identifies spacing, size and orientation of the rebar and will not 
show to what extent the rebar is eroded. Link Construction has recommended YH Engineering, 
one of the last two firms that were met with, and they verbally indicated that neither of the 
methods would provide the information that the City is seeking.  Additionally, they provided 
photographs of the damages and an assessment of the pool, along with their recommendation. 
 
City Manager Gorland explained that the two methods that were thought to be non-invasive 
were determined not to be the solution. Based on the additional information and the advice of 
YH Engineering, the Administration does not recommend moving forward with either method. 
Building Official Edwin “Skip” Reed is working closely with the Administration to come up with 
some alternatives in order to be able to move forward with the future of the pool project and 
they anticipate having the information ready and available for Council at the April 8th meeting.  
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 7 



City Manager Gorland referred to the color photographs included in the back up documentation 
that clearly show the condition of the pool.  He invited Council to visit the facility to see the 
underneath structure of the pool in order to see the problems. The project will be driven 
through the Building Official who has the primary contacts that are necessary to make the 
assessments before making his recommendation.  There is no additional information other than 
what is being presented at this time. 
 
Mayor Garcia commented that the photographs that were provided show exactly what the old 
Recreation Center looked like behind the wood barriers that were placed on the walls with the 
rebar blowing out the concrete. He is looking forward to the opinion of the engineers in order 
to determine if the structure can last a little longer. 
 
 
9C) Status Report on Annexation (Verbal) 
 
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland stated that the City’s lobbyists are working with a messaging 
consultant to develop an outreach program for the City to use with the proposed annexation 
businesses and property owners.  The outreach testing is part of the process and has already 
started, although the documentation has not been released yet. 
 
Jose Gonzalez, Vice President, Corporate Development for FEC Industries, is in the process 
of providing a letter supporting the area that the City is trying to annex, according to Mr. 
Gorland. Moving forward, the County Commission Land Use Development Committee will meet 
in May to review the proposed four-city annexation, which is headed by Commissioner Jose 
“Pepe” Diaz. 
 
Mayor Garcia commented that the City Manager explained exactly what is occurring. He 
reminded the residents that the annexation process had reached this point before and it did 
not happen, but this time it is the closest that he has ever seen annexation coming to fruition. 
He is hoping that the annexation proposal will pass the first Committee when they meet in 
May. 
 
 
10. New Business:  
 
10A) Request that Council Approve the Serving of Alcohol During the Bikini Fashion 
Show Taking Place on Saturday, March 30th at the Rebeca Sosa Theater 
 
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland stated that the item was pulled.  He clarified that the 
Fashion Show would still take place, but the sponsor would not be providing alcohol. 
 
 
10B) Resolution No. 2013-3574 – A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Miami 
Springs Amending the Schedule of Golf Charges and Fees for the Operation of the Miami 
Springs Golf and Country Club; Reserving the Right and Authority to Amend or Supplement 
the Schedule of Charges; Effective Date 
   
City Attorney Jan K. Seiden read the resolution by title. 
 
Attorney Seiden stated that the resolution provides for another amendment to the Schedule of 
Charges and Fees, as suggested by the City Manager and outlined in the backup 
documentation.  

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 8 



 
Councilman Best moved to adopt Resolution No. 2013-3574. Councilwoman Bain seconded 
the motion. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator indicated that she was not provided with a copy of the Resolution after the 
cover memorandum. 
 
City Manager Gorland referred to the changes to the Golf and Recreation fee schedules, as 
outlined in Agenda Items 10B and 10C.  He said that this is an excellent way to reward the 
business community and property owners that own businesses; they are being treated as 
residents in regard to the fees that are charged. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator asked what would constitute satisfactory proof of owning a business in Miami 
Springs. 
 
City Manager Gorland responded that the intention is to be liberal with the interpretation of the 
rule and if someone says they own a business and shows proof of the business name that is 
associated with their name it will be fine.  The same would apply to someone who lives 
outside the City and owns property in Miami Springs and has something to show that they 
own the property. 
 
City Attorney Seiden said that the process is something that can be done by example and at 
some points in the beginning it might be necessary to check with the City Manager to 
determine what constitutes sufficient proof. A program must be developed, such as showing a 
utility bill or something along those lines that shows ownership.  It could also be a tax bill or 
business license. 
 
City Manager Gorland explained what happened at the last Christmas event at the Circle when 
a restaurant owner and her children were excluded by the rules that were in place for 
residents. He said that this incident showed that there was a loophole in the procedures and 
this provision is one way to address it. 
 
The motion was carried 5-0 on roll call vote. 
 
 
10C) Resolution No.  2013-3575 – A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Miami 
Springs Amending the Current Schedule of Charges for the Use of City Recreation 
Facilities and Relates Services; Effective Date 
   
City Attorney Jan K. Seiden read the resolution by title. 
 
Attorney Seiden stated that this resolution includes basically the same wording that is included 
in the previous resolution, except that it has been applied to the Schedule of Charges for the 
use of the Recreation facilities and services. 
 
City Manager Gorland noted a change in his cover memorandum; the reference to the “Golf 
Course” should be “Recreation” rate sheet and the attached resolution is correct. 
 
City Attorney Seiden pointed out that there is a typographical error in the fee schedule under 
Section 9, and the age should be changed from 19 to 25. 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 9 



Councilman Best moved to adopt Resolution 2013-3575. Councilman Lob seconded the 
motion, which was carried 5-0 on roll call vote. 
 
 

Agenda Item 10D discussed after Agenda Item 8B. 
 
10D) Approval of Facility Agreement with PJA Golf Clinic and Events, Inc. for a Youth 
Golf Summer Camp 
   
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland read the recommendation to enter into the facility agreement 
based on the proposal received from Philip J. Argianas, a PGA certified professional instructor 
to initiate a Youth Golf Summer Camp Program. He said that with extensive marketing and 
programming it could be successful this summer and in future summers.  The new relationship 
could also result in a much desired year-round youth golf and family golf program. 
 
City Manager Gorland said that the program is designed to provide a serious and professional 
golf experience for youth as well as promote resident family golfing.  The marketing plan of 
PJA Golf will include targeting community leaders at schools, churches, Chamber of 
Commerce and businesses, and youth organizations in the surrounding areas. 
 
City Manager Gorland explained that Mr. Argianas is well known in South Florida, has 
excellent references and is highly motivated and committed to make the program successful.  
He has also made separate arrangements with Carlos Santana for using the Country Club for 
camp meals/refreshments.  He has provided the required insurance and is responsible for all 
advertising, programming, every day programming, professional golf instruction by PGA 
professionals and staff, equipment for campers, trophies and awards, junior golf rule books, 
and refreshments for campers during the day. 
 
City Manager Gorland said that there is essentially no cost to the City with the potential for 
certain limited revenue from the camp operations.  The proposal was submitted by Interim Golf 
Course Manager Sandy Pell. 
 
Interim Golf Course Manager Pell introduced Mr. Argianas who is highly recommended by 
many of the neighboring golf facilities. 
 
Philip J. Argianas, PGA Golf Professional, thanked the Mayor and Council for the opportunity 
to speak about golf and the impact to junior golfers in Miami Springs. He presented a 
proposed program sheet for PJA Golf, which is a company in Miami since 1991, with a 
number of summer camps.  The goal is to provide a fun, safe atmosphere for Juniors and 
introduce them to the game of golf so that they can progress.  He has a passion for golf that 
he hopes to bring to the students who attend the school so that they can enjoy and learn the 
traditions and rules of the game.  There are many important qualities in life that the students 
will learn as they participate in the program. 
 
Mayor Garcia asked for the time schedule for the full-day program and Mr. Argianas 
responded 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., with an early drop-off at 8:30 a.m.  There is also a half-
day program that is available. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator noted that some camps build progressively based on skills and asked if 
someone could only attend the last week. 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 10 



Mr. Argianas replied that there is a discount for attending more than one week, but the 
program is available for any one of the weeks. The campers are divided into three groups 
based on skill level and age and as they progress they are challenged differently than those 
campers who are attending for the first time. 
 
To answer Councilwoman Bain’s question, Mr. Argianas responded that the number of staff 
would depend on the number of campers that will attend during the week. There are 
professionals that he contracts with that he has worked with in the past and the high school 
golfers will work as counselors. 
 
Councilman Lob asked Mr. Argianas what is the average participation based on past history 
and Mr. Argianas said that the facility he was at began with 20 campers for the first year and 
after time and various opportunities the number increased up to 52 golfers, which the facility 
could not handle based on available space. 
 
To answer the Mayor’s question, Mr. Argianas said that Carlos Santana would provide the 
campers with lunch which is included in the fee. 
 
Mayor Garcia asked if the camp staff would be held to the same guidelines as the City 
requires for camp instructors with the appropriate background checks and the City Manager 
answered affirmatively. 
 
Councilman Best asked if there were different levels of instruction based on the campers’ 
progress during the eight sessions. 
 
Mr. Argianas clarified that there are three different groups within the camp; the first level is an 
introduction for the first time students and as they progress and become familiar with the rules 
they will compete with each other at the third level. 
 
To answer the Mayor’s question, Mr. Argianas said that they will provide the golf equipment 
based on their age and size for children who do not have golf clubs. 
 
Councilman Best moved the item.  Councilwoman Bain seconded the motion, which was 
carried 5-0 on roll call vote. 
 
  
10E) Revised Golf and Recreation Position Organizational Classifications 
   
City Manager Ronald K. Gorland read the memorandum recommending a revision to the 
Position Classification and Pay Plan as follows: 
 

1. Reinstate the Golf Director position/title and rename it Golf and Country Club Director; 
pay grade 49; pay range $71,850 to $95,799. 

2. Eliminate the current Golf Pro position/title; pay grade 46; range $63,316 to $92,063. 
3. Reinstate the Recreation Director position/title; pay grade 49; range $71,850 to 

$95,799. 
4. Eliminate the Recreation/Golf Director position/title; pay grade 49; range $71,850 to 

$95,799. 
5. Organizational change – Golf and Country Club Director reports directly to the City 

Manager. 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 11 



Re-grading the Golf Director position is necessary to support hiring of a professional golf and 
country club business manager rather than filling the current Golf Pro position, according to 
Mr. Gorland.  As a business manager (Golf and Country Club Director), this person will have 
full authority, responsibility and accountability for the Golf and Country Club. 
 
The Golf Pro position/title to be eliminated currently reports to the Golf and Recreation 
Director.  By returning this function to reporting directly to the City Manager, the Golf and 
Country Club Director position is clearly responsible for all aspects of Golf, including bottom-
line, budget, organization, operations, etc.  The person envisioned to fill the Golf and Country 
Club Director position will have demonstrated successful golf course management experience 
and preferably have a golf and country club business background. 
 
The Recreation/Golf Director position is re-titled because the Golf and Country Club Director 
will report directly to the City Manager, no longer reporting to the Recreation Director 
(Recreation will no longer include Golf). 
 
City Manager Gorland explained that there is little material impact to the budget by the 
recommended position/title changes other than elimination of the 5% pay increase that the 
Golf/Recreation Director received while the Golf Pro reported directly to that position.  
 
Vice Mayor Ator said that when Mr. Gorland became City Manager he went out of his way to 
say that he had too many employees directly reporting to him and there should not be as 
many directors. Now, he wants to add back a director, which seems premature in light of the 
fact that this Council voted to pay someone to analyze what is needed for the Golf Course.  
She questioned why this recommendation is being brought forward before Council knows what 
the suggestions for the Golf Course are going to be. 
 
City Manager Gorland responded that he knows that the consultant is going to recommend this 
change.  At the time the change was made, there was optimism that there would be no major 
issues for Recreation Director to work with and now the pool issue is going to take most of 
his direct time and energy, and he is fully supportive of the change. 
 
Mayor Garcia stated that he fully believes in the City Manager’s recommendations and that is 
why he was selected for the position. He does not want to tell the City Manager how to do his 
job; he has already discussed the matter with him in his office and he firmly believes that this 
will be a step in the right direction.  
 
Councilman Best said that although he appreciates the Vice Mayor’s concern, he felt that it 
was too much for one person to handle both the Golf and Recreation activities and he 
applauds this move. 
 
City Manager Gorland explained that he had been talking with a number of people who could 
fill the position that have the proper credentials.  He said that over $12MM has gone into the 
Golf Course, including debt service, which is a large amount of money and the City had no 
idea it would cost that much.  In order to make a change, they must try a number of different 
things.  The first two outsource managers were an unmitigated disaster.  Subsequently, there 
was a City employee who managed it that did better, but not as well as the Golf Pro manager 
that was brought on board. The new attempt will be to hire a business manager who can 
manage costs and a decision should be made very shortly. 
 
To answer Councilman Lob’s question, the City Manager confirmed that the pay range is 
comparable to other golf courses and it works within the City’s pay range of grade 49.  

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 12 



 
Councilwoman Bain commented that the organizational classifications could be changed at any 
time and the City Manager agreed. 
 
Councilman Lob moved to approve the changes as recommended in Agenda Item 10E.  
Councilman Best seconded the motion, which was carried 4-1 on roll call vote with Vice 
Mayor Ator casting the dissenting vote. 
 
 
10F) Resolution No. 2013-3576 – A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Miami 
Springs Approving and Adopting a Revised City Employee “Pay Plan” for Fiscal Year 2012-
2013; Reserving the Right and Authority to Amend or Supplement the Plan; Effective Date 
 
City Attorney Jan K. Seiden read the resolution by title. 
 
City Attorney Seiden stated that the City Code requires Council to adopt a Pay Plan as part of 
the budget process and Council has now approved a change in the Pay Plan.  He explained 
that in order to make the change official, Council must now adopt the resolution approving the 
revised Pay Plan that is attached as Exhibit “A”.  The changes that were made are the 
elimination of Golf Pro; the addition of Golf Director; the elimination of Recreation/Golf 
Director and the addition of Recreation Director. 
 
Councilman Best moved to adopt Resolution No. 2013-3576.  Councilman Lob seconded 
the motion, which carried 5-0 on roll call vote. 
 
Councilman Lob asked when Council could expect to receive the outcome of the analysis from 
the golf advisory company and the City Manager responded that the report should be ready for 
the next meeting. 
 
 
12. Reports & Recommendations: 
 
12A) City Attorney 
 
None. 
 
12B) City Manager 
 
April 2, 2013 General Election 
 
City Manager Gorland reminded everyone to vote in the upcoming election. He said goodbye 
to those Council members who will be leaving office and announced that the next meeting on 
April 8th at 6:00 p.m. is the Special meeting for the installation of the new Council. 
 
Spring Break/Easter Holiday 
 
City Manager Gorland wished everyone a great and safe Spring Break and Easter holiday. 
 
Springs River Festival 
 
City Manager Gorland urged everyone to remember the annual Springs River Festival that will 
take place on Friday, April 5th through Sunday, April 7th. 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 13 



12C) City Council 
 
Thank You 
 
Councilman Best explained that he did not know what to say after sitting on Council for eight 
years. He has enjoyed every minute of his time serving as an elected official and he thanked 
his wife and family for their patience throughout his terms of office, going back to 2001. He 
also thanked the previous and current Council, the City Administration and Department heads 
who provided him with information and satisfactory answers. 
 
Councilman Best said that holding office had been an educational experience for him; it is 
something that he wanted to accomplish at the age of 47 and after losing the first election, he 
came back to serve for eight years. He reiterated his appreciation to his family and his 
colleagues on Council, the City Attorney and the City Clerk who he feels are indispensable.  
He learned how government operates, that it is a democratic process that is not really perfect, 
but it works.  He thanked all his constituents for their support over the years and said that it 
has been an honor to represent each and every one of them. 
 
April 2, 2013 General Election 
 
Councilman Best reminded everyone of the upcoming election on Tuesday, April 2nd that is 
very important since there will be a new mix on Council.  He wished all candidates the very 
best during their campaign. He thanked the River Cities Gazette and the press for their 
coverage of the meetings during his tenure on Council. 
 
Councilman Best stated that an election is not a popularity contest and it should never digress 
to that point; an elected office is something that a person runs for because of a passion and 
desire to serve and represent the people, while it is also an opportunity to bring contentious 
issues to the table.  He urged the candidates to stand up and address the issues.  The future 
of the City is very bright based on the current Administration that is responsible for the day-to-
day operations of the City.  Councilman Best received a standing ovation. 
 
Early Voting 
  
Vice Mayor Ator announced that Early Voting for the April 2, 2013 General Election would 
take place at City Hall on Friday, March 29th and Saturday, March 30th. 
 
Easter Holiday 
 
Vice Mayor Ator commented that Easter is on Sunday, March 31st and All Angels is holding 
services every night this week and welcomes everyone with open arms. In addition, All Angels 
will have an egg hunt on Easter Sunday with 1,000 eggs. 
 
Farmers Market 
 
Vice Mayor Ator reported that Saturday, March 30th is the final day for the All Angels Farmers 
Market, there are still many vendors participating and she hopes it will continue in the fall. 
 
 
 
 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 14 



Architectural Review Board 
 
Vice Mayor Ator commented that she stands by what she said at the March 6th Architectural 
Review Board meeting and she does not feel that there was anything wrong with her 
comments.  As the Council liaison, she attends her respective board meetings and she reads 
the minutes of all the advisory boards and there is no mention of any other Council members 
attending. She at least attends the meetings to stand up and thank the members for their 
service.   
 
Vice Mayor Ator continued to explained that at the Architectural Review Board meeting, only 
one particular person had ever been to a meeting before because everyone else quit the 
board and there is not much left for them to do. She stands by everything that she said and 
Councilwoman Bain might be supportive of the Mayor and that might be where her comments 
are coming from. 
 
Councilwoman Bain addressed Vice Mayor Ator and asked her not to talk like she knows 
where she is coming from because she can speak for herself. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator reiterated that she stands by her comments and does not regret anything that 
she said. 
 
Councilwoman Bain said that how Vice Mayor Ator feels is fine, but that she should not speak 
for anyone else as she can talk for herself. 
 
 
Councilman Best 
 
Vice Mayor Ator said that it had been a pleasure serving with Councilman Best and he 
expressed the same to her.  
 
****************************************************************************  
 
Mayor Garcia recognized Georgie Carter Krell who was present and allowed her the 
opportunity to come forward to speak. He recognized that she did not sign up to speak under 
Open Forum, but that he would definitely make an exception for her. 
 
Georgie Carter Krell, mother of Pfc. Bruce Wayne Carter, Medal of Honor Recipient, stated 
that she was placed on the Board of the Military Hospitality Lounge at Miami International 
Airport and she is asking for the City’s support. 
 
Keith Whitbeck, Executive Director of the Armed Forces Service Center, explained that the 
organization is a replacement for the USO that left in 1989, and they perform a service for the 
military with more than 2,000 people arriving at Miami International Airport every month. The 
main purpose is to accommodate the personnel that are lonesome, traveling and have been 
through difficult times. They are seeing more psychological problems and have been dealing 
with this on a daily basis.  He has volunteered for thirty years; he is a former officer and 
formed the corporation to replace the USO, with the sole purpose of assisting the military 
personnel.  He added that County Commissioner Jose “Pepe” Diaz is one of their sponsors 
and they receive no support from the federal government. 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 15 



Mr. Whitbeck said that the Armed Forces Service Center is a 501-c-3 corporation.  He 
requested support from the community and said that donations can be made through the 
website at www.MilitaryLoungeMiami.com. 
 
Mayor Garcia thanked Ms. Krell and Mr. Whitbeck. 
 
Councilman Lob said that for those people who do not use computers the telephone number 
to call is 305.876.7585.  He thanked Mr. Whitbeck and Ms. Krell for everything they do. 
 
Mr. Whitbeck added that his cellular phone number is 305.968.4399, and he will leave the 
information with the City Clerk. 
 
Mayor Garcia asked the City Manager if the information could be posted on the City’s website 
and the City Manager agreed. 
 
City Attorney Seiden asked if the space at the airport was donated to the organization and Mr. 
Whitbeck replied that the airport has provided space that is equivalent to $406,000 per year, 
for only $1.00 per year. It is in an older section of the building and they are in the process of 
remodeling.  They will be receiving new carpeting, furniture and computers that will cost the 
airport $129,000. 
 
Councilman Best asked who funds support of the 2,400 personnel that Mr. Whitbeck 
mentioned are in Haiti and Mr. Whitbeck responded that they are funded by the United 
Nations. 
 
Vice Mayor Ator mentioned that a couple of people from the Daughters of the American 
Revolution (DAR) have trained and are now working at the Hospitality Lounge.   
 
Councilman Best 
  
Councilman Lob said that it had been an honor and privilege serving with Councilman Best 
and he wished him the best of luck.  
 
Council Position 
 
Councilwoman Bain commented that she does not need anyone to assume who she is talking 
for; she speaks for herself and the only reason she sits on Council is because she loves to 
serve.  It has been an experience and there have been good and bad points, but she has 
learned tremendously and would not change anything. She respects and enjoys working with 
everyone; the Staff and the Administration have done a good job to the best of their ability, 
and there is always room for improvement.  She will be leaving her seat in good hands and 
she will always be involved because that is who she is.  She received a standing ovation. 
 
Thank You 
 
Mayor Garcia thanked Councilman Best and Councilwoman Bain and said that it had been fun 
serving with them on Council and dealing with them outside of City business at various events. 
They are true public servants whose interest is not moving up to another level or to criticize 
anyone; they only want to serve the residents of Miami Springs. He thanked them for their 
service to the City, not only as a former Councilman and now as the Mayor, but as a resident 
of the City and he is honored to call both of them his friends.  He is also grateful to have 
worked with his colleagues, Councilman Lob and Vice Mayor Ator.   

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 16 

http://www.militaryloungemiami.com/


April 2, 2013 General Election 
 
Mayor Garcia reminded everyone of the April 2nd General Election that is preceded by Early 
Voting on Friday, March 29th and Saturday, March 30th.  He said that he is honored and 
blessed to have served as Mayor and he is looking forward to serving as Mayor again. If that 
is not the case, he is willing to support Vice Mayor Ator and he will continue to work hard for 
the community regardless of whether or not he is the Mayor because he loves to serve. At the 
end of the day, everyone is a resident of the City of Miami Springs and the decisions that are 
made are not taken lightly as they will affect Council and their families as well.  
 
Thank You 
 
Mayor Garcia thanked the City Manager, the Assistant City Manager/Finance Director, the 
City Attorney, the City Clerk, the Deputy City Clerk and the rest of the Staff and employees of 
the City of Miami Springs. 
 
 
13. Adjourn. 
 
There being no further business to be discussed the meeting was adjourned at 8:29 p.m.   
 
 
 

_________________________ 
Zavier M. Garcia 
      Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 

Magalí Valls, CMC 
     City Clerk 

 
 
Approved as ____________ during meeting of:  
 
Transcription assistance provided by Suzanne S. Hitaffer. 
 
Words -stricken through- have been deleted.  Underscored words represent changes. All other words remain 
unchanged. 
 

Minutes – City Council Regular Meeting   Monday, March 25, 2013 17 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 1 

          DRAFT 
CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 
The Miami Springs Education Advisory Board met at 6:30 p.m., on Tuesday, March 19, 
2013 in the City Hall Council Chambers. 
 
The meeting was called to order at 6:32 p.m. 
 
1) Call to Order/Roll Call 

 
The following were present:  Chair Dr. John Salomon 
     Vice Chair Dr. Mara Zapata     
     Caridad Hidalgo      

Michael G. Hunter     
Kim Werner 

     
Also Present:    Deputy City Clerk Suzanne Hitaffer 
     
 
2)  Approval of Minutes:  February 19, 2013 Regular Meeting  

 
Minutes of the February 19, 2013 meeting were approved as written. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata moved to approve the minutes and Board member Hidalgo seconded 
the motion, which carried unanimously on voice vote. 
 

 
3) Individual School Reports 
  
Dr. Adam Kosnitsky from Miami Springs Senior High School reported on student activities, 
including a community initiative for 50 homeless citizens and the Senior luncheon and 
picnic.  Seniors participated in the Miami International Film Festival and a number of 
students attended a meeting with the Superintendent at Ronald Reagan Senior High 
School and three band students are going to the State competition for the solo ensemble.  
 
Dr. Kosnitsky announced that many students earned scholarships; one student was 
accepted to Yale; two students were accepted to M.I.T. and two students were accepted to 
Stanford.  He will provide a list of students next month. 
 
 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 2 

Dr. Kosnitsky reported that Phase One of the iTech program began this year with 25 
students. He and Principal Rodriguez met with District Staff regarding the next phase of 
the project because there are 75 new applicants for next year that will increase the 
enrollment to 100 students.  Students will work on computer gaming or programming with 
animation and it is four-year program that starts in 9th grade. 
 
Dr. Kosnitsky said that District representatives visited the school today and the iTech 
program is estimated to cost $500,000, including the equipment. The bond funds will not 
begin streaming until the end of the summer and the goal for this year is to allocate 
approximately $100,000. In addition, School Board member Susie Castillo visited the 
school today and she was accompanied by the Mayor. 
 
AIE Charter School 2nd grade teacher Nevenka Huertas reported that they currently have 
303 students. School Board member Susie Castillo along with the Mayor also visited the 
school. She explained that her classroom was provided iPad’s through a grant and she 
also was provided an iPad to use in her classroom lectures. The school also had Hector 
Dueñes with Instructional Technology visit the school to film her class using the iPad.  
 
Ms. Huertas commented that the school has a new Media Center that has many 
computers and students can work on many programs. Earlier this month they had the Dr. 
Seuss celebration in which the students read Dr.Seuss books throughout the entire week. 
The school has made over $800 in box tops and the winning classroom will have a 
cupcake party. The chocolate fundraising will be starting soon. Two weeks ago, the school 
hosted a family night where approximately 300 students and their family members 
attended a Miami Heat game. She reported that they are preparing for the FCAT and the 
SAT’s that begin next month and the mock testing will begin in April.  
 
Principal Dovale from Springview Elementary reported that the Science Teacher of the 
Year was 1st grade teacher, Jennifer Fernandez. The AR program is now web based and 
the parents enjoy it. The students also celebrated Dr. Seuss by reading stories and 
participating in activities. The CELLA testing is ongoing and the school has also been 
working with their IT Department for the CBT testing to ensure infrastructure because the 
5th graders will be tested on-line this year for the math test. 
 
Ms. Dovale commented that they are working with Public Works Director Tom Nash 
regarding a reading garden near the Media Center. The tutoring is ongoing for ELL and 
CANA. School Board member Susie Castillo and Mayor Garcia also visited the school 
today to see the technology that is being used in the classrooms. 
 
Chair Salomon asked if Ms. Castillo looked at the playground and Ms. Dovale responded 
that she did see the playground and it was pointed out that they are waiting for the bond 
funds. 
 
Board member Werner asked how the partnership with Mr. Nash was created and Ms. 
Dovale replied that she contacted him and whenever she would like something done that 
is related to landscapes, she contacts the experts in the City and Mr. Nash works hand in 
hand with the school. 
 
 
 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 3 

Miami Springs Elementary School Principal Sally Hutchings reported that the top 90% 
students for AR will have a snow cone party; those that met their goal will have a popcorn 
party and the four top performers will receive a gift certificate for $25. The PTA sponsored 
a Valentines Dance to raise funds to continue the AR rewards program. She recognized 
Springview Elementary because they are assisting Miami Springs Elementary with the web 
based AR program. CELLA testing has been completed. The school celebrated Dr. Seuss 
by reading and dressing up and parading around the school. 
 
Ms. Hutchings commented that she contacted Mr. Nash regarding trees that needed to be 
trimmed and he responded back very quickly and has worked with the school for other 
things such as the biome. Enrollment is down by three and they are currently at 542 
students. The 4th grade students will be going on a field trip to St. Augustine. They 
received a $1,300 donation from Mayor Garcia for students who could not afford the trip. 
They will be having a Spring Dance tomorrow and the proceeds will support the AR 
program incentives.  
 
Ms. Hutchings stated that the PTA completed a book fair with proceeds exceeding 
approximately $500. The lost and found clothing is announced on the afternoon 
announcements and parents that need the clothes pick them up and what is left over goes 
to a teacher’s charity. The school will have an art exhibit in City Hall on April 8th. ELL 
tutoring and the CASTA program are ongoing and are very successful. The class size 
remains the same. Ibley provided a coupon for a free polo shirt for every staff member. 
She contacted Chief Baan inquiring if a four-way stop can be placed between Nakhoda 
Drive and Park Street and Chief Baan said that it should be done in approximately four 
weeks. 
 
Ms. Hutchings reported that ADA came to look at the playground and they are also on the 
waiting list. 
 
Assistant Principal, Vicky Rodriguez of Miami Springs Middle School reported that they 
held a Movie night and over 200 community members attended a viewing of “Monsters 
Inc.”, along with a DJ and food sales. The 7th graders will be going on an annual field trip 
to SeaWorld. Afterschool and Saturday school tutoring is ongoing for FCAT skill building. 
The school held the District keyboard evaluation and 15 of their own students received a 
rating of superior.  
 
Ms. Rodriguez commented that the articulation between the elementary schools and the 
high schools has been completed successfully. They will have the Cambridge Program 
next year and were one of four Middle schools selected. Construction is slated for the 
iPrep math center and it will begin in May. The Principal’s Honor Roll students will be 
going to the Youth Fair tomorrow. They will be hosting a math night after Spring Break. 
The current enrollment is 1,561. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the Cambridge Program and progress of the program. 
 
Ms. Rodriguez reported that the school has gone through physical restoration. She 
explained that some buildings would be removed and some renovated.  The school was 
painted and the PTSA has funded a shelter for the students.  
 
 
 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 4 

4) PTA Reports 
 
No reports. 
 
 
5) Education Advisory Board Goals 

 
a. School Visits 

 
Vice Chair Zapata visited both elementary schools in regard to the Youth Advisory Council 
and for the purpose of discussing how the Board can assist the schools with their needs. 
She visited the Middle School today and was very impressed with the positive dynamics of 
the leadership team.  She was also there to perform a clinical observation of a student 
from Miami-Dade College. 
 
Dr. Zapata also visited the High School and spoke with the Principal about the Youth 
Advisory Council representative.  She was also a judge for the All Angels History Fair. 
 
Board member Werner reported that she has a visit scheduled with the High School. 
 
Chair Salomon visited Miami Springs Elementary School to specifically look at the 
playground.  He also sent a letter to Councilman Lob about the school playgrounds and 
emphasized the need for repair as soon as possible. 
 
 
6) Youth Advisory Council Update 
 
Vice Chair Zapata said that the application forms that were originally provided to the 
school Principals involved a lot of personal contact information, and the Principals would 
be responsible for contacting the students. She announced the following appointments: 
Ulisses Cantana from Springview Elementary; Benjamin Jarrell from Miami Springs 
Elementary and Jose Maldonado from Miami Springs Senior High.  She is waiting for the 
names of the students for the Middle School and All Angels. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata explained that her intent is to go back to the schools and meet with 
each of the students to get an idea of how they perceive the civic piece and to make sure 
that they are willing to serve. She will then talk to the Administration to see how they 
perceive the Youth Advisory Council going forward and she will also contact the Chamber 
of Commerce to get their ideas.  She will report further at next month’s meeting. 
 
 
7) Other 
  
Board member Werner commented that she is very grateful for what is happening in the 
community, especially the Eye Care Program because the plan must be sent to the District 
tomorrow. She is amazed with the partnership between the schools and the City’s Mayor, 
Police and Public Works, as well as the relationship between the school Principals. 
 
Board member Werner would like to see the plans for eye care and she suggested that 
the schools could set up a booth at Springs River Festival to introduce the Principals and 
Staff to the community. 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 5 

Assistant Principal Rodriguez explained that the Middle School will have a booth at the 
Springs River Festival and the PTSA and school administrators would be there. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata reported that she was privileged to attend the Miami Beach Board for 
Quality Education meeting that works in the same capacity as the City’s Education 
Advisory Board, through a Compact with Miami-Dade County Public Schools.  She did this 
to get an idea of how other boards are working. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata explained that the Board had discussed the Compact with Lubby 
Navarro who was not able to be here.  She said that some of the important notes were 
that Miami Beach had participation from their City, including Public Works, Police, 
Chamber of Commerce and PTSA.  She felt that in order to comply with the City of Miami 
Springs’ Compact that this would be a great benefit.  She feels that the collaboration that 
is outlined in the Compact requires City representatives to be present at the meeting. 
 
In speaking with the school Principals, Dr. Zapata said that topics were raised that 
involved public safety, swale maintenance, the loan of public works’ equipment, and other 
safety issues and concerns.  She added that the Chamber of Commerce is important in 
terms of student participation, specifically internships for the High School students. 
Students need to have access in order to learn how the city and the businesses operate. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata moved to recommend to the City Council that they authorize 
representation to the Board from Public Works, Police and the Chamber of Commerce 
in order to achieve the collaboration between the City and Miami-Dade County Public 
Schools. Board member Hidalgo seconded the motion, which was approved by 
consensus. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata commented that the City of Miami Beach agenda is framed by their 
Compact.  She created a sample of what the Miami Springs Education Advisory Board 
agenda would look like if it were to be structured in line with the sections in the Compact 
(attached for the record).  She feels that the Board should take a proactive role and the 
agenda should follow the important sections in the Compact in order to be productive. 
 
Dr. Zapata said that the Board could wait for District representative Lubby Navarro to 
discuss the Compact and at that point she would like to restructure the agenda. It is 
wonderful for the Principals to share their information with the Board, but there should be 
more input from the PTSA. 
 
The school Principals expressed their comments from the audience.  
 
Vice Chair Zapata said that even if the PTSA representatives cannot attend they could 
provide a written report through the Principals because the parental voice is very important. 
 
Board member Werner explained that she was not aware of the Education Advisory Board 
and their role in the community. She asked how the word could be spread to the parents. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata said that if the school Principals were to advise her of the PTA meeting 
dates that she would be happy to attend and let them know that they have a voice in the 
City. 
 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 6 

Board member Hunter suggested that on a regular basis, the school Principals or 
administrators could invite parents to give a report on their perception of what is working, 
what is not working or what is missing.  He would also like to hear from the students as 
well.  
  
Chair Salomon said that the first section listed in the Compact is student achievement and 
there are some issues the Principals could speak to, while there are some points that they 
might not be able to address. He gave one example as “recruitment of businesses to 
support schools.” 
 
Vice Chair Zapata said that the City support was discussed and the Board must take a 
more proactive role in the recruitment of businesses. 
 
Chair Salomon referred to the sample agenda and questioned how it would for the Board. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata replied that the sample agenda items were taken directly from the 
Compact; they are not activities that are actively happening at this time. She had asked 
Principal Dovale about the health related item, which is important to involve the students 
and their peers.  She provided examples of what could apply to each of the sections in 
the Compact. The School District has protocol in place to promote their policies, such as 
green or drug free policies and whatever the community does must be in line with the 
District protocol.  She added that Ms. Lubby Navarro is responsive to any questions. 
 
Board member Werner suggested that the Board could tie in with what is already 
happening in the District, like the Eye Care initiative.  She offered to follow Dr. Zapata’s 
lead with anything she asks her to do. 
 
Chair Salomon requested some guidance from Dr. Zapata and suggested that she could 
take over the next meeting. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata responded that she would assist with the agenda for the next meeting 
and send it to the Board Secretary. She offered to work together with Dr. Salomon through 
the Board Secretary. 
 
Board member Hunter asked the school Principals to forward their most recent Climate 
Surveys for students, teachers and parents.  He said that if the current year had not been 
released that he would like to have last year’s so that it can measured as part of the 
Compact. 
 
The school Principals offered to forward the link to the electronic Climate Surveys to the 
Board Secretary. 
 
Board member Werner asked the Principals to provide with the Eye Care plans for each of 
the schools since it is current and relevant. 
 
Vice Chair Zapata mentioned that the various club organizations in the City and the senior 
citizens could also be involved in order to share their experiences.  This is a topic she is 
looking forward to discussing with the Youth Advisory Council. 
 
Board member Werner brought up the Youth Empowerment initiative and asked if there is 
a way to tie this with the youth civic engagement. 



   

Education Advisory Board   Tuesday, March 19, 2013 7 

 
Vice Chair Zapata felt that it is important for the Youth Advisory Council to focus on 
educating students who live here about the City.  The focus should be very specific to the 
community, although what is happening in the District could frame what they work on. 
   
 
8) Adjourn 
 
There was no further business to discuss and the meeting adjourned at 7:21 p.m. 
  
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Suzanne Hitaffer 
Clerk of the Board 
 
Transcription assistance provided by Clerical Assistant Elora R. Sakal. 
Approved as written at meeting of:    
 
************************************************************************************************************************ 
The comments, discussions, recommendations and proposed actions of City Citizen Advisory Boards do 
not constitute the policy, position, or prospective action of the City, which may only be established and 
authorized by an appropriate vote or other action of the City Council.  
************************************************************************************************************************ 

 
 
 

 



   

Historic Preservation Board   Thursday, March 21, 2013 1 

 
 DRAFT  

CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 
The Miami Springs Historic Preservation Board met at 7:00 p.m., on Thursday, March 
21, 2013 in the City Hall Council Chambers. 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:07 p.m. 
 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 

 
The following were present:  Vice Chair Sydney Garton     
     Charles M. Hill     

Yvonne Shonberger 
     Michael Windrem 
 
Absent:    Jo Ellen Phillips  
 
Also Present:    Clerical Assistant Elora R. Sakal 
     
 
2.  Approval of Minutes:  October 18, 2012 Regular Meeting  

 
Minutes of the October 18, 2012 meeting were approved as written. 
 
Board member Windrem moved to approve the minutes as written and Board member 
Shonberger seconded the motion, which was carried unanimously on voice vote. 
 

 
3. Selection of Board Chairman and Any Other Vacant Board Position  
 
Board member Shonberger commented that she would like to discuss this item. There are 
two names that stand out to her for this position. The first person is Vice Chair Garton 
who has helped former Chair Goodlett-Taylor and who is prepared to be a Chairman. The 
other person is Board member Phillips who is a strong voice and who is politically savvy 
and knowledgeable. It has been her experience that sometimes it is better to have a 
person who has been on the board for a longer term. 
 
Board member Shonberger stated that sometimes the lack of knowing the political 
undertones has hurt the Board so she feels that the Board should discuss whether it is 
best to have the long term knowledge or the politically savvy as Chair. 
 



   

Historic Preservation Board   Thursday, March 21, 2013 2 

Board member Hill said that Board member Shonberger has also done a lot on this board. 
 
Board member Shonberger explained that she is not ready to become a Chair and that 
she has too many things going on. She believes that it is Board member Garton’s time to 
become Chair and her time may be in a few years. She noted that Board member Phillips 
knows how to communicate with Council. 
 
Board member Windrem commented that he has a function that he must attend tonight so 
he will be giving his opinion and then he will have to excuse himself from the meeting. He 
believes that any of his three fellow Board members who are present would do fine sitting 
as Chair. He also believes that Board member Phillips would do fine as well. Former Chair 
Goodlett-Taylor will never be replaced and she is an incredible woman. 
 
Board member Windrem said that he appreciated the time and perspective that he has 
received from his fellow Board members. 
 
Vice Chair Garton stated that the importance of this meeting is to appoint a Chair so that 
the Chair can sit on the Memorial Committee. 
 
Board member Shonberger moved to nominate Vice Chair Garton as Chair. Board 
member Hill seconded the motion which was carried unanimously on voice vote. 
 
Chair Garton recommended nominating Board member Phillips as Vice Chair and by 
consensus the Board members agreed.   
 
 
4. Old Business: 
 

a. Discussion Regarding Next Property to be Designated 
 
Discussion ensued regarding a person who may be very well versed in helping the Board 
with properties such as the schools. The Board agreed to discuss this topic further when 
there is a full board. 
 
 
5. New Business: None 
 
 
6. Reports/Requests:  
 

a. Council Liaison: None. 
 

b. Board members: None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   

Historic Preservation Board   Thursday, March 21, 2013 3 

7. Adjourn 
 
There was no further business to discuss and the meeting adjourned at 7:19 p.m. 
  
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Elora R. Sakal 
Clerk of the Board 
 
 
Approved as written at meeting of:    
 
************************************************************************************************************************ 
The comments, discussions, recommendations and proposed actions of City Citizen Advisory Boards do 
not constitute the policy, position, or prospective action of the City, which may only be established and 
authorized by an appropriate vote or other action of the City Council.  
***********************************************************************************************************************  
 



 
  

Ecology Board 

 

Cancellation Notice 
 

 
The Ecology Board Meeting of Tuesday, March 26, 2013 has been canceled in 

advance. 
 

 

 

                 

                           

                        Elora R. Sakal 
                        Board Secretary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
cc: Mayor and Council 
 City Manager  
 Assistant City Manager/Finance Director  
 City Attorney  
 Ecology Board Members 
 Public Works Director 
 Post 



 
 

  
 

CANCELLATION NOTICE 

 CODE REVIEW BOARD 
 

Due to the fact that the City Council has not directed the Code Review Board to review 
any ordinances this month, the regular meeting of Thursday, March 28, 2013 has been 
canceled in advance. 
 

           
      ____________________________ 

   Magalí Valls, CMC 
        City Clerk 

 

 

 
cc: Mayor and Council 

City Manager 
Assistant City Manager/Finance Director  
City Attorney 
Planning and Zoning Director 
Building and Code Compliance Director 
Code Review Board Members and Secretary 

 Post 
 



 

Zoning and Planning Board 
 

Cancellation Notice 
 
 
The Zoning and Planning Board meeting of Monday, April 1, 2013 has been canceled in 
advance.  
 

 

 

 

 
                       Elora R. Sakal       
                     Board Secretary 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
cc: City Council 
 City Manager 
 City Attorney 
 City Planner 
 City Clerk 
 Zoning and Planning Board Members 

Post 



 

 
 

 City of Miami Springs, Florida 

Board of Adjustment 
  

CANCELLATION NOTICE 

 
The Board of Adjustment Regular Meeting of April 1, 2013 has been canceled in 

advance. 
 
 
 
 
 

                 

                 Elora R. Sakal 

                                                                       Board Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 
cc: Mayor and Council 
 City Manager 

Assistant City Manager/Finance Director 
 City Attorney 
 Planning and Zoning Director 
 Board of Adjustment Members 
 Post 



   

 
DRAFT 

 City of Miami Springs, Florida 
 
The Miami Springs Memorial Committee met at 6:00 p.m., on April 1, 2013 in the City 
Hall Council Chambers. 
 
The meeting was called to order at 6:12 p.m. 
 
 
1) Call to Order/Roll Call 

 
The following were present:  Chairman Eric Richey 
     Manuel Pérez-Vichot 
     Clark Rinehart 
      
Absent:    Sydney Garton 
     Reverend Mother Susan Keedy 
 
Also Present:    Board Secretary Elora R. Sakal 
     
 
2)  Approval of Minutes: May 2, 2011 Regular Meeting  
 
City Attorney Jan K. Seiden stated that there are only two members of the Committee that 
were present at the last meeting. He asked the Committee to approve the minutes 
administratively, since the other members who were present are not available any longer. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot moved to administratively approve the minutes as 
written and Chair Richey seconded the motion, which carried unanimously on voice 
vote. 
 
Chairman Richey welcomed Clark Rinehart to the Committee. He was hoping that Sydney 
Garton and Reverend Susan Keedy would be present as he always reviews the duties of 
the Committee. 
 
Chairman Richey stated that the Memorial Committee is a unique committee because it is 
emotionally charged and they must deal with death, which makes every decision very 
difficult.  
 
 

Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 1 



   
Chairman Richey referred to the criteria that the Committee must consider each time they 
meet. He said that it is important to honor people who are deserving of the recognition 
and the Committee must protect that honor by making sure that the person being 
considered is valuable to the community, so that they do not reduce the value of those 
persons who were previously recognized. 
 

 
3) Selection of Vice Chair 

 
By consensus, the Committee members agreed to table the selection of a Vice Chair until 
there is a full board. 
 
 
4) New Business: 
 

a) Consideration of a request to name a street after Charles Quijano 
  
City Attorney Seiden commented that it would not be appropriate to consider this item 
without the family being present because they were the ones that petitioned for the 
consideration.  The family should have the opportunity to respond to whatever comments 
might be made from the Chair or the other members of the Committee when there is a full 
board present. He suggested that another meeting could be scheduled for the first Monday 
in May, before the Board of Adjustment meeting, which would only be fair to the family. 
 
Chairman Richey clarified that the family was notified of the meeting and the Board 
Secretary agreed. 
************************************************************************** 
 
Chairman Richey continued to review the criteria that the Committee should use in 
evaluating the eligibility for memorialization as follows: 
 

1. The person under consideration must be deceased. 
2. The person must have resided in the City of Miami Springs. 
3. The person must have contributed in some significant manner to the City. 
4. That a person with ties to the City must have distinguished himself or herself in 

acts, actions or activities unrelated to the City. 
 
To answer Chairman Richey’s question in regard to No. 4, City Attorney Seiden said that 
this item applied to Police Officer Amanda Haworth. If a person had distinguished himself 
or herself to the City, No. 4 would not apply.  He explained that No. 3 applies to citizens 
and No. 4 is for people who have ties to the City, but they might not have lived here their 
entire lives, but have significant ties with their families or the history of the City. 
 

5. That although compliance with the criteria set forth in subsection 1 herein is 
required; the failure to comply with any other single criteria is not fatal to 
consideration so long as at least a combination of two of the other criteria is met. 

6. That notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the City Council 
may approve memorialization, by a four-fifths vote, even if a person proposed for 
memorialization fails to meet any or all of the aforesaid criteria previously set forth 
herein. 

*********************************************************************** 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 2 



   
(Elma Quijano arrived at 6:58 p.m. and the item was discussed under Other Business) 

 
 

b) Consideration of Re-naming 59th Avenue from Where it Enters Miami 
Springs to Hunting Lodge Drive Father Carney Way 

  
Chairman Richey commented that obviously there is no presentation for this item. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot understood that the renaming would apply from N. W. 
36th Street going north on Curtiss Parkway up to Hunting Lodge Drive. 
 
Chairman Richey asked if 59th Avenue was Curtiss Parkway and Committee member 
Pérez-Vichot said that it was 57th Avenue, but it must change to 59th Avenue at some 
point. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the location of the street that is under consideration. 
 
City Attorney Seiden added that if this item is approved, the City will ask Virginia Gardens 
to see if they would go along with their portion of the street that falls under their 
jurisdiction. The street actually fronts Blessed Trinity Church and the Rectory is on Hunting 
Lodge Drive. 
 
Chairman Richey said that City Manager Gorland had stated that Father Carney had a 
significant impact on the City’s residents during his long term of service at Blessed Trinity 
and Council agreed to forward the matter to the Memorial Committee.  He added that 
Councilwoman Bain requested and it was agreed that Virginia Gardens be contacted. 
 
Chairman Richey asked if there was any additional information on Father Carney and City 
Attorney Seiden noted that there was no back-up material, but it could be provided if Chair 
Richey feels that is important for the board to review.   
 
Chairman Richey commented that the number of years that Father Carney served is a 
significant factor to consider and Mr. Pérez-Vichot agreed that it was more than twenty 
years. 
 
Attorney Seiden added that Father Carney seemed to have made a great impact on a lot 
of people because of his service through the school. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot said that Father Carney was responsible for a new 
school building and he was responsible for implementing several programs as the head of 
the Church.  He was very liked and respected by many people and was never accused of 
any wrong doings. 
 
Chairman Richey noted that the Committee never considered re-naming a street before, 
other than Stadnik Way.   
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot commented that there is a street named after Hugh 
Frank. 
 
 
 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 3 



   
City Attorney Seiden stated that most streets, whether they are city, county or municipal 
streets, are co-named; virtually all have a mutually exclusive designation at a certain 
avenue or street.   
 
Attorney Seiden said that the City Council has sent a resolution to the County Commission 
to designate N. W. 36th Street, from 57th Avenue to the Abraham District, as N. W. 36th 
Street/Miami Springs Boulevard, instead of Doral Boulevard.  Anything that involves the 
state or the county would need their permission. He believes that 59th Avenue is a city 
street, while Curtiss Parkway is not. 
 
Chairman Richey informed the board that he previously headed a committee that 
considered the renaming of East 4th Avenue, from 47th Street to 49th Street, as Lorenzo 
Ladago Way. He was the Principal of Hialeah High School that died a couple of years 
after retirement. 
 
Chair Richey explained that the process was lengthy and it was considered by two 
different boards in the City of Hialeah. The City of Hialeah has co-named many streets 
and they do not bear the cost of the signs; the County is involved in the signage and they 
must be reimbursed for the work. He asked to consider who should bear the cost of the 
signage. 
 
City Attorney Seiden said that the City Manager and Council brought up the idea and 
Blessed Trinity was never involved in the suggestion. He felt that the City is prepared to 
foot the bill for the signage. 
 
To answer Chairman Richey’s question, City Attorney Seiden replied that Council proposed 
re-naming the street and they would like to know if the Memorial Committee supports the 
proposal as an appropriate way of memorializing the memory of Father Carney. 
 
Committee member Rinehart moved to approve the proposal to re-name 59th Avenue 
from where it enters Miami Springs to Hunting Lodge Drive as Father Carney Way. 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot seconded the motion, which carried 3-0 on voice vote. 
 
        

c) Recommendation to Honor Pastor Schmidt’s Long-Time Service to Miami 
Springs 

 
Chairman Richey asked if there is any documentation to consider and City Attorney Seiden 
commented that there were many articles published about Pastor Schmidt; he was very 
involved with Fair Havens and he was always very agreeable. 
 
Chairman Richey said that he personally has no problem with approving the 
recommendation.  Pastor Schmidt was an icon in Miami Springs for more than 50 years. 
He asked how the other board members felt about the recommendation and in what 
fashion Council is recommending that he be honored. 
 
Attorney Seiden responded that the recommendation is to rename Curtiss Parkway in front 
of Grace Lutheran Church or alternatively a section of Azure Way or Glen Way on the 
back side of the Church.  He felt that it would be easier to avoid Curtiss Parkway and 
rename Azure Way, Glen Way or both sections. Curtiss Parkway would involve the County 
since it is their street. 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 4 



   
Committee member Pérez-Vichot said that the section fronting the Church on Curtiss 
Parkway would be renamed. 
 
Chairman Richey asked to consider the roads or if there are other alternatives for a 
memorial. He felt that the Church itself could do something on their own grounds to 
recognize Pastor Schmidt and there are other forms of recognition like the plaques on the 
Curtiss Parkway memorial stand at the Circle or a free standing monument.  He personally 
does not feel that a name on a street sign is as dignified as a memorial that stands alone.  
He has no problem with what the people of the Church and the City might want, but street 
signs seem like the only recommendations being considered at this time, which the 
Committee has never dealt with before, other than for John Stadnik. 
 
City Attorney Seiden felt that Pastor Schmidt would not qualify for the memorial monument 
where the names of Alice von Suskil and Jack Odin were placed, because that recognition 
was service oriented.  He agreed that the Church might also want to place a memorial on 
their grounds and perhaps the City should check with them.  Co-naming the streets is very 
popular because the name draws the attention of people who see the signs that are not 
familiar with the community and it gives immediate recognition.  
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot said that in the case of Father Carney, the Church is 
naming a new building in his memory. 
 
Chairman Richey commented that naming a street is a huge designation and he would like 
to make sure that the information about the person is available to the community when it 
is put into action so that people realize what contributions the person made. 
 
City Attorney Seiden said that careful consideration should be given to the decisions so 
that they do not “water down” the impact of prior memorials. 
 
Chairman Richey recalled that in the past, the Memorial Committee turned down a 
recommendation to honor someone who received the Congressional Medal of Honor 
because they were not a resident of the City. He said the Committee should pay close 
attention to the historical significance and value of the contribution that the person made. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot said that before a recommendation is sent to the 
Committee it should be clarified why the person is worthy of the designation and not just a 
couple of notes. 
 
City Attorney Seiden agreed with Mr. Pérez-Vichot, even though the Committee members 
might be familiar with the two gentlemen. He said that in the past the Committee was 
provided with a lot of material for consideration.  He reiterated that the City Manager was 
responsible for proposing the two recommendations because he felt they were important as 
a long-time citizen.  He said that more information could be provided if the Committee felt 
it was necessary. 
 
Chairman Richey said that in the future, the Committee would appreciate as much back-up 
information as possible on any nomination that is generated by the City. 
 
Committee member Rinehart asked the other members if they would agree that Pastor 
Schmidt fits two of the items listed in the criteria and they both agreed. 
 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 5 



   
Attorney Seiden assured the Committee that in the future that the appropriate information 
would be provided, especially if the recommendation was made by a citizen group.  In 
these two instances, the gentlemen were very well known by the community; in this case it 
is only a matter of considering which of the streets is more appropriate. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot said that he could visualize Glen Way, but he is not sure 
about Azure Way and he would like to have received a map. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the respective streets and extra signage that could be given 
to the families. 
 
Committee member Rinehart mentioned that a street was named after High School 
Principal Alex Bromir. 
 
City Attorney Seiden suggested that the Committee should rank the streets one, two and 
three.  He agreed with the Chair that Curtiss Parkway would provide more recognition and 
County Commission Chairwoman Rebeca Sosa has been very helpful and supportive of 
requests from Miami Springs.   
 
Committee member Rinehart moved to approve the recommendation for the signage, 
ranking Curtiss Parkway #1, Azure Way #2 and Glen Way #3. Mr. Pérez-Vichot 
seconded the motion. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot added that Curtiss Parkway is more in line with what is 
being proposed for Father Carney. 
 
The motion was carried 3-0 on voice vote. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the location and jurisdiction of the Blessed Trinity Church 
property. 
 
 
5) Other Business:  
 
Attorney Seiden suggested that the next meeting could be scheduled for Monday, May 6th 
before the Board of Adjustment meeting if the Quijano family is available to attend. 
 
Chairman Richey commented that the decision in regard to Charles Quijano would be 
more difficult since it is a different situation. 
 
City Attorney Seiden said that the Administration could confirm when the family is available 
and if they cannot be reached, the meeting can be established and it can be noted for the 
record that the family did not respond and the Committee can take whatever action they 
feel is appropriate. 
 
Chairman Richey was concerned that the family was not present since their request, which 
is very important.  He agreed to schedule the item for the next meeting on May 6th. 
 
 
 

Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 6 



   
Chairman Richey referred to a recommendation made by the Board of Parks and Parkways 
to renovate the Marine Memorial on Curtiss Parkway at Deer Run. He described the 
condition of the site that is in need of renovation with a garden retainer wall and plantings. 
He asked if there is someone that could provide a drawing of the plan. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot agreed to help with the design and the assistance of a 
landscape architect. Further discussion ensued regarding the proposed project and the 
private raising of funds. 
 

(Agenda Item 4a – Charles Quijano was considered at this time) 
 
 

Elma Quijano of 1191 Quail Avenue arrived at 6:58 p.m. 
 
City Attorney Seiden stated that Ms. Quijano had been very patient waiting for the 
Memorial Committee to have a full board to consider her request. Unfortunately, two of the 
members were unable to be present at this meeting due to the Easter holiday.  He said 
that voting on a matter of this magnitude should require three affirmative votes out of five. 
Right now there are only three people present and it is up to Ms. Quijano to decide if the 
matter should be tabled until there are five members present. 
 
Ms. Quijano commented that the three Committee members were not present at the 
previous meetings when she spoke to Council and Chair Richey explained that the matter 
was never presented to the Memorial Committee. 
 
Ms. Quijano asked if a decision could be made at this meeting by the three members who 
are present and the City Attorney responded that they were able to make the decision, but 
from his experience there would be better odds if she waited for five members to consider 
her request. 
 
Ms. Quijano informed the board that she had previously spoken to Mother Keedy who is 
familiar with her request and she would like to go ahead with the consideration of the 
recommendation.  She explained the history of her request that extended back more than 
one year with her letters to Mayor Garcia, the State Representative and the County 
Commissioners. Since her request is related to rename a section of Ludlam Road within 
the boundaries of Miami Springs to Charlie Quijano Way, she was told that the County 
would agree but that she first needed the City’s approval. 
 
Ms. Quijano explained that her son passed away in a vehicle accident in 2006, when he 
was 20 years old.  He was born and raised in Miami Springs since 1986; he attended all 
the schools in the City and was attending Miami Dade College at the time of his passing.  
He was also working for Doug Orr Plumbing, which is an icon in Miami Springs.  Her son 
was loved by both the young and old; he participated in Little League and played 
basketball for the City league.  As his mother, she hopes and prays to leave something in 
her son’s memory in Miami Springs as they live one block away from Ludlam.  
 
Ms. Quijano continued to express her sentiments to the Board in memory of her son and 
urged the Board to approve her request. 
 
 
 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 7 



   
Committee member Pérez-Vichot commented that he did not know Ms. Quijano’s son, but 
obviously he was a very good person and he remembers Ms. Quijano from working at the 
bank.  He has children of his own so he knows what the pain feels like and he feels the 
grief of Ms. Quijano.  He agrees that her son deserves recognition and he would like to 
consider what type of recognition is proper based on the Memorial Committee criteria. 
 
Mr. Pérez-Vichot said that there are memorial plaques at the end of Curtiss Parkway and 
in other parts of the City.  He would like to consider the type of recognition that would be 
appropriate since her son was very young and was not old enough to contribute to the 
City. 
 
Chairman Richey asked if Ms. Quijano’s son was affiliated with any other organizations in 
the City besides the sports teams. 
 
Ms. Quijano responded that her son was a student and participated in the various sports 
and church activities at St. John’s.  He was not a member of any particular clubs in the 
City. 
 
Chairman Richey informed Ms. Quijano that the Committee had previously gone over the 
criteria for memorialization before she arrived.  He brought her attention to items listed one 
through six in the City Code of Ordinances. He said that the person should have 
distinguished themselves in organizations like the military, Congress or the State 
Legislature or have been distinguished in the City. 
 
City Attorney Seiden commented that the person must be deceased, which is No. 1, and 
the person must meet a combination of any two of the other criteria. He said that in the 
final analysis there should be compliance with either No. 3 or No. 4. The person should 
have contributed in a significant manner to the City or have ties to the City and have 
made significant acts, in some fashion, outside of the City. 
 
To answer Ms. Quijano’s question, Chair Richey explained that he asked if Charles had 
been in any City organizations because it might be more appropriate for the church or 
organization to recognize him. His concern is to guarantee the reverence that the Memorial 
Committee holds for this type of recognition and there must be some significant 
contribution to the City in general.  For example, if Charles was significant in the Little 
League then something could be done at the baseball field by the team itself. 
 
Chair Richey informed Ms. Quijano that only two streets had been named after people in 
the history of the Memorial Committee; one was for the High School Principal who lived in 
the City and was a fixture in the community and the second was after City Pioneer John 
Stadnik.  He said that despite the level of the tragedy of the loss of Ms. Quijano’s son, 
the City must look at how involved he was in the City itself and what his contributions 
were. 
 
Ms. Quijano said that it would have been nice for the City to have addressed this matter 
in January 2012, and her efforts would not have been in vain. 
 
 
 
 
 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 8 



   
Committee member Pérez-Vichot asked Ms. Quijano to consider if there is anything else in 
her mind that she would consider adequate in terms of recognition, and whether her son 
was a member of any clubs or organizations to which she could make a contribution in his 
memory at her own expense, like a plaque.  He does not want to diminish her thoughts of 
her son, but naming a street after someone is very limited and they must have made 
significant contributions to the City. 
 
Chairman Richey added that most of the people who are recognized have made 
contributions over long periods of time.  He said that this is the first time that the Memorial 
Committee had received her request and the City Council, as the elected officials referred 
it to the Committee.  He is not sure what happened since January 2012. 
 
City Attorney Seiden explained that the problem was with the vacant positions of the Board 
Chairpersons and the scheduling did not work out; it was a difficult situation. 
 
Ms. Quijano felt that when someone comes to the City to inquire about a matter, the City 
Clerk or someone who is actually there could respond on behalf of the City, and they 
could have stated that “according to our procedures, these are the things that you have to 
meet.” She said that if these items were brought to her attention, she would not have 
proceeded with her request and she has come to the meetings at least four times. She 
completely understands the position of the Memorial Committee and said that it would 
have been nice if she had been told about the criteria. 
 
Ms. Quijano pointed out that she belongs to a global organization called the 
“Compassionate Friends” and one of the parents was able, through the County 
Commissioners, to name a section of Bird Road in memory of her son.  She now 
understands and only wishes that the criteria had been brought to her attention back in 
2012 when she came in person to speak with the City Administration. 
 
Chairman Richey emphasized that he will definitely make a recommendation that Council 
should tell the City Manager that anytime someone makes a request for memorialization 
that they be given a copy of the criteria.  He explained that the Memorial Committee is 
only an advisory committee. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot urged Ms. Quijano to consider another way to honor her 
son that would be adequate and she agreed to ask one of the churches. 
 
Committee member Rinehart moved to deny the recommendation for memorialization 
since it does not meet the criteria. Mr. Pérez-Vichot seconded the motion. 
 
Committee member Pérez-Vichot suggested that the Administration could look for an 
alternative to recognize Ms. Quijano’s loss in another way that would not conflict with the 
criteria. 
 
The motion to deny was carried 3-0 on voice vote. 
 
City Attorney Seiden stated that if the family decides on something more appropriate, they 
can contact the City.  He is a little surprised that Ms. Quijano was not given a copy of the 
criteria. 
 
 
Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 9 



   
Committee member Rinehart noted that the received stamp on Ms. Quijano’s letter is 
August 2012. 
 
City Attorney Seiden agreed that anyone who requests memorialization should be given a 
copy of the code regulations and the criteria for consideration. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the procedures for disbursing information to people who come 
to the City requesting a memorial or street dedication. 
 
 
6) Adjourn 
There was no further business to discuss and the meeting adjourned at 7:26 p.m. 
  
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Elora R. Sakal 
Clerk of the Board 
 
Transcription assistance by Suzanne Hitaffer. 
 
Approved as written at meeting of:    
 
********************************************************************************************************* 
The comments, discussions, recommendations and proposed actions of City Citizen Advisory Boards do 
not constitute the policy, position, or prospective action of the City, which may only be established and 
authorized by an appropriate vote or other action of the City Council.  
********************************************************************************************************* 
 

Memorial Committee   Monday, April 1, 2013 10 



 
 

  
 

CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS 
 

FLORIDA 
 

 
CANCELLATION NOTICE 

 
CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD 

 
 
The regular meeting of the Code Enforcement Board scheduled for Tuesday, April 2, 2013 
has been cancelled in advance due to no cases to be heard. 
 
 

 

_____________________________________________ 
Tex Ziadie 
Director-Building and Code Compliance Department 
 
 

 
cc: City Clerk 
 City Manager 
 Code Enforcement Board Members by E-Mail 
 Post 
 



























































































































































FACILITY AGREEMENT 
 
 

THIS AGREEMENT  is entered into this 1st day of May, 2013 by and between the 
CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS, a Florida Municipal Corporation, hereinafter referred to as 
"City", and Miami-Dade County Aquatic Club, Inc., a Florida Corporation, hereinafter 
referred to as “MDCAC”; 

 
W I T N E S S E T H: 

 
WHEREAS, MDCAC has approached the City to solicit authorization to utilize the  

Swimming Pool to conduct classes Monday through Friday mornings and evenings and 
Saturday morning; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Recreation Department of the City is desirous of providing the 

widest variety of recreational and educational activities for citizens on a continuing basis; 
and, 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Miami Springs has reviewed and 
discussed the proposal of the MDCAC program and has determined that, subject to the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement, it is in the best interests of the City and its 
citizens to authorize the limited usage of the Miami Springs Swimming Pool for the 
purposes proposed; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the 

mutual sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

USE OF PREMISES 
 
The City of Miami Springs hereby grants to MDCAC the right to use the swimming 

pool as follows: 
 
Fall/Winter Schedule from April 29, 2013 to June 9, 2013 and August 26, 2013 to 
April 30, 2014 
 
Monday through Friday from 4:45 A.M. to 6:30 A.M.  
Monday through Friday from 5:00 P.M. to 7:00 P.M. 
 
Summer schedule from June 10, 2013 to August 25, 2013 
Monday through Friday from 8:00 A.M. to 10:00 A.M.  
Monday through Friday from 4:00 P.M. to 6:00 P.M. 
Saturday from 8:30 A.M. to 11:00 A.M.,  
  
for the operation of a program known as MDCAC, upon the terms and conditions 

set forth herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City reserves the right to utilize the 
areas being provided to MDCAC upon reasonable advance notice for City related or 
sponsored activities. The City also requires that MDCAC to leave a lane open at the deep 
end of the pool at all times, and to have a coach/representative on the premises until all 
swimmers have left the facility. 

 
 

 
Facility Agreement - MDCAC 

1 



PAYMENTS FOR USAGE 
 
MDCAC agrees to pay the City a monthly use fee of one thousand dollars 

($1,000.00) which is due, in advance, on the first of each month commencing May 1, 
2012 and ending with final payment on April 1, 2013. Payments received more than 10 
days after the due date will be subject to a twenty dollar ($20.00) per day late payment 
fee. 

 
MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES 

 
MDCAC agrees to clean and maintain the area used for its activities so that it is 

returned to the City in the same condition as received (i.e. swimming caps, goggles, 
equipment, boards, water bottles and drinks). In the event that MDCAC does not comply 
with this clean up and maintenance provision, MDCAC agrees to reimburse the City for the 
actual costs incurred in cleaning the facility following its usage. 

 
ACCEPTANCE OF AGREEMENT 

 
MDCAC hereby accepts this agreement granted by the City for the use of the 

Miami Springs Pool for the operation of and MDCAC program upon the terms and 
conditions set forth herein. 

 
TERM OF AGREEMENT 

 
This Agreement shall be for a period of one (1) year beginning on May 1, 2013 

and continue through April 30, 2013. 
 

RENEWAL OF AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement may be renewed upon the mutual consent and agreement of the 

parties hereto.      
 

TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 
           
 This Agreement may be terminated by either party hereto, without cause, by 
providing the other party written notice thereof by certified mail, return receipt requested, or 
by hand delivery, to be effective thirty (30) days from receipt of said written notice. 
 
 MDCAC acknowledges its review and understanding of certain City reports and 
other documents describing the current condition of the City pool and the potential actions 
that may be taken by the City.  MDCAC further acknowledges and agrees that the term of 
this Agreement may be prematurely terminated, in the City’s sole and exclusive discretion, 
to allow for whatever actions the City deems appropriate for the City pool. 

 
 

INSURANCE 
  
 MDCAC shall, at all times during the term hereof, maintain insurance coverage in 
the amount of $1,000,000, (One million dollars) which shall also name the City as an 
additional insured under the policy.  All such insurance, including renewals, shall be 
subject to the approval of the City for adequacy of protection and evidence of such 

 
Facility Agreement - MDCAC 

2 



coverage shall be furnished to the City on Certificates of Insurance indicating such 
insurance to be in force and effect and providing that it will not be cancelled during the 
performance of the services under this Agreement without thirty (30) calendar days prior 
written notice to the City.   Completed Certificates of Insurance shall be filed with the City 
prior to the performance of services hereunder, provided, however, that MDCAC shall, at 
any time, upon request, file duplicate copies of the policies of such insurance with the 
City. 

HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNIFICATION 
 
 In addition to the aforementioned required insurance coverage to be provided to the 
City, MDCAC shall hold the City, including its officials, employees and representatives, 
harmless and indemnify it against all claims, demands, damages, actions, causes of 
actions, liability, costs, expenses, and attorney's fees arising out of, or resulting from, injury 
to or death of persons, or damage to or loss of property, sustained on or about the 
licensed premises, arising from the services, acts, actions, omissions or failures to act of 
MDCAC or of any of its employees, agents, representatives, invitees, or guests.  
Additionally, the protections provided by this provision shall also include any costs, 
expenses, or legal fees the City may incur in establishing that MDCAC or its insurer are 
responsible to provide protection, coverage, and representation to the City, its officials, 
employees, and representatives for any incident that may occur during the term hereof. 

 
PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES 

 
MDCAC shall not use the premises for any inappropriate or unlawful purpose and 

shall comply with all State, County and City laws, statutes, ordinances, policies, rules and 
regulations applicable now, or in the future, to the operation of MDCAC and the premises. 
MDCAC shall not permit any offensive, or dangerous activity, nor any nuisance or other 
conduct in violation of the public policy of the City, county or state on the premises. 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH CITY SAFETY RULES, REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

  
MDCAC agrees to abide by all City safety rules, regulations and procedures during its use 
of the City swimming pool.  In addition, all personnel in any manner involved with the 
operation and activities of MDCAC must successfully comply with the City’s background 
investigation and fingerprinting policy and procedures.  Further, MDCAC acknowledges the 
existence of the City’s Thorguard Lighting Early Warning System and agrees to follow the 
procedures established by the City for safety compliance should the system be activated 
during MDCAC use of the City’s pool. 

 
NONDISCRIMINATION 

 
MDCAC represents and warrants to the City that it does not and will not engage in 

discriminatory practices and that there shall be no discrimination in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement on account of race, color, sex, religion, age, handicap, 
marital status or national origin. MDCAC further covenants that no otherwise qualified 
individual shall, solely by reason of his/her race, color, sex, religion, age, handicap, 
marital status or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied services, or 
be subject to discrimination under any provision of this Agreement. 

 
 
 

 
Facility Agreement - MDCAC 

3 



ASSIGNMENT 
 
This Agreement shall not be assigned, in whole or in part, without the prior written 

consent of the City Manager, which may be withheld or conditioned, in the City Manager's 
sole and exclusive discretion. 

 
ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS 

 
If either party to this Agreement initiates litigation to enforce any provisions hereof 

or for damages on account of any breach of this Agreement, the prevailing party in any 
such litigation, and any appeals there from, shall be entitled to recover from the other 
party, in addition to any damages or other relief granted as a result of such litigation, all 
costs and expenses of such litigation and reasonable attorney's fee as fixed by the court. 

 
NOTICES 

 
All notices or other communications required under this agreement shall be in 

writing and shall be given by hand-delivery or by registered or certified U.S. mail, return 
receipt requested, addressed to the other party at the following address or to such other 
address as a party may designated for notice: 

 
NOTICES TO BE GIVEN TO CITY SHALL BE ADDRESSED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS 
Attention:  Ronald K. Gorland, City Manager 
201 Westward Drive 
Miami Springs, FL  33166 

    
 

NOTICES TO BE GIVEN TO MDCAC SHALL BE ADDRESSED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Miami-Dade County Aquatic Club, Inc. 

    Attention: Ricardo Rodriguez 
10015 S.W. 2nd Terrace 
Miami, Florida 33174 
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
A.    That this Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Florida. 
 
B.  That title and paragraph headings contained herein are for convenient 

reference and are not a part of this Agreement. 
 
C.  That should any provision, paragraph, sentence, word or phrase contained in 

this Agreement be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or 
otherwise unenforceable under the laws of the State of Florida, such provision, paragraph, 
sentence, word or phrase shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary in order to 
conform with such law, or if not modifiable, then same shall be deemed severable, and in 
either event, the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement shall remain 
unmodified and in full force and effect or limitation of its use. 

 
 

 
Facility Agreement - Miami Dade Aquatic Club - Ricardo Rodriguez 

4 



D.  That this Agreement constitutes the sole and entire understanding between the 
parties hereto. No modification or amendment hereto shall be valid unless in writing and 
executed by properly authorized representatives of the parties hereto. 

 
E.  That this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their heirs, 

executors, legal representatives, successors or assigns. 
 
F.  That MDCAC has not been procured and is being engaged to provide services 

to the City as an Independent Contractor, and not as an agent or employee of the City.  
Accordingly, MDCAC shall not attain, nor be entitled to, any rights or benefits under the 
Civil Service or Pensions Ordinances of the City, nor any rights generally afforded civil 
services or non-civil service employees.  MDCAC further understands that Florida 
Worker's Compensation benefits available to employees of the City are not available to it, 
and it agrees to provide workers' compensation insurance for any employee or agent 
rendering services.  
 
 
 

 

 

THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Facility Agreement - Miami Dade Aquatic Club - Ricardo Rodriguez 

5 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, MDCAC and the City have set their hands and seals on 
the day and year first above written. 
 
    Miami - Dade County Aquatic Club, Inc., 
    a Florida Corporation 
WITNESSES:      

 
_________________________ By:____________________________ 
 
Print Name:_________________ Ricardo Rodriguez, President 
 
_________________________ 
 
Print Name:_________________ 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of __________, 2013, 

by Ricardo Rodriguez, President of Miami-Dade County Aquatic Club, Inc. He is personally known 
to me or has produced _____________________________________ as identification, and did 
take an oath. 
 

________________________ 
Notary Public, State of Florida 

COMMISSION: 
 

 WITNESSES: 
 
 _____________________________  CITY OF MIAMI SPRINGS 
  A Florida Municipal Corporation 
 
 Print Name:___________________  By:__________________________ 

RONALD K. GORLAND,  
         City Manager 
 ____________________________ 
 
 Print Name:___________________  ATTEST:______________________ 

Magalí Valls, 
  City Clerk 

 STATE OF FLORIDA 
 COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of _______, 2013, by 
RONALD K. GORLAND, City Manager and MAGALÍ VALLS, City Clerk of the City of Miami 
Springs, Florida. They are personally known to me or have produced 
_________________________ as identification, and did take an oath. 
 

________________________ 
Notary Public, State of Florida 

COMMISSION: 

 
Facility Agreement - Miami Dade Aquatic Club - Ricardo Rodriguez 

6 



 
 
 
O:\3\Contracts\Facility Agreement - MDCAC - Ricardo Rodriguez - 2013.doc 
City Clerk’s Office – 4/4/2013 
 
 
 

 
Facility Agreement - Miami Dade Aquatic Club - Ricardo Rodriguez 

7 


















	Agenda
	3A
	3B
	3C
	5A
	6A
	6B
	6C
	6D
	6E
	6F
	6G
	6H
	8A
	9A
	9B
	9C
	9D
	9E
	9F
	9G
	9H
	9I
	10A
	10B
	11A

